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ﬂw a8 &
‘f the Pooph, being duly sworn, umr
»mm EXAMINATION BY MR, ISRLIN:

What is your tnn name? A Max N ‘

Where do you live? & At 994 East }‘3‘_’

O O B

Q And is yomr drug store in the s ume
‘ : you live? A Yes, sir,

Q@ On the first floor? A Yes.

Q- Mmd you sleep u pstairs? A Yo‘s.A

e v Q Amyou & married man? A lo* ur.

e

- . G On the 24th of Jamary, 19085, dM YM mm_

, th:ll drug store? A Yes sir,

did you close up your store? A Half-past tha

MR, KINSIEY: I think, may it Please th

NSRSy

we might save a little time here, The d‘fﬂéﬂlt

Q Md on that dgg at that time of the onuint lf.ﬂw#

mits that & burglary was committed in this place t#

that the compldnant lost the property or that :lt was

MR, ISELIN: That will save time,
THE COURT: Within the County of New York?
MR, KINSLEY: Yes, .slr.

MR, ISELIN: What property?

‘ﬂ Iﬂi I)L« p 1

stolen from those premises on the night in quf’attofi. S
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MR, mm: h mx m M'
alleged in the indictment was O&oiﬂ
in question on that night,

BY MR, ISELIN:
Q@ Did you hear me read from thii l" }

that is alleged to huve beon stol‘?

Q And was it in Kkkmxmikky your nwu,‘, ‘
you closed up? A Yes, sir,

Q Have you ever seen it since?

detective,

Q What detective? Stand up, please..

arises,) Is that the detective? A Yes, m.

Q@ Thomas F, l'unlm? A Yes, ur.

Q You went ith that officer? A!ea. aye .

@ The following day? A No, The 26th.
Thursday,-- no, on the 27th of February.

Q And Aid you see these t“btl(iﬂitﬁtiﬂ’ .4
A Yes; I identified my property, ’

Q On that day, when you s &y you went with thM
did you see those tickets? A Yes.

Q Who had the tickets when you saw them?'
tive,

Q And did you go to the various places mtioﬁ“ hf

those tickets? A Yes sir,



Q@ To what places did you go? A Went |

on 113th Street, or scmewheres around there; : 5 ’

3

¢
e

exactly the street; and I identified my watoh, and

" studs, |
Q Did you buy that watch? A Yes I h :
sir, v .
Q FHow much did you pay for it? A f Ii
or $110, .‘ 3
| Q How long ago did you buy it? A W‘t
seven years &go, 7
Q And did you buy the diamond ltudqf  §§1!%§;‘ﬂi§;
. Q How much did you pay for tb-‘? A In- -‘&i
paid -- but I couldn't remember -- about ’00 té ‘Qaj-iiﬁh#
wheres around there. |
Q How long ago did you buy them? A That is Qtlit'
& while ago, ‘ ‘ - :
Q What do you mean by quite & while ago? A hll,.'
about a year ago,
Q Now, you say you found this wateh and these studs
after this alleged burglary in Brookenheimer™s pawnshop?
A Yes, s#ir,

Q And you are sure that those articles that were

shown to you there were your property? A Yes. 71 1ost "'7

number of my watch, and I went over to the jewelsy to



get the number, a«nd he gave me the m:r.
is the same as the wuteh ocalls for, and thw :
Brookenheimer's -- to Brookenheimer™s u l!"

Q@ Where was the Brookenheimer where you

watch and studs? A 115th Street; tmit ‘»
Q And what avenue? A Third Avenue,
Q@ And then where did jou go? A To m
another man of that name, "Brookenheimer®, v
Q@ Also & pawnshop? A Yes, sir, , ‘
Q And what did you find there? A Dimﬂm
Q Another pair? A Well, it is mtxm 1 "
Q You say that in the first lrookonhci;;;'*g ’t
you found your watech? A Yes, and two studs, ;'
Q And thorixnthe second Brookenheimer's you roﬂ
the diamond cuff buttons? A Yes sir, )
Q When did you buy those cuff buttons? A They
were given to me on Christmas,
Q You did not buy them yourself? A No, sir,
Q@ Now, let me put this question--
MR, KINSIEY: On what date did he go to the pawne
shop?
MR, TSELIN: On the 26th, he says.
Q Did you lose any money from your store on the night b

in question? A Yes, sir,



Q FHow much money? A Over ‘m.

Q@ In bille? A In bills au sou.
Q Md where was this money m your ttorﬂ'_,

desk,

O

In your store? A Yes, sir.

SEA

Behind the counter? A Behind thc eo

Over $200? A Over $200.

O O ©

Have you ever seen any of that W
Q@ Look at the property which T show m
that is the letter for my name,
Q Was that in your store on the uiahﬁ

robbery? A Yes, sir,

cuff button (Indicating) is & Russian c¢oin,

Q Belonging to you? A Yes; and here ('muauu‘.;) is ,
what I got for being a delegate to the Buffalo hoittm ‘
a8 & druggist,

Q You identify it? A Yes; but this (Indicating) is
not mine,

Q@ Look at the bunch of articles, &and see if there is
anything else that is not yours? L Yes, 8ir; ovom

else is mine,



oy

before the burglary? A In the desk,

Q And when did you see it next after the MMY
A On Friday. The burglary happened between hul.fd’“
when I closed up, and two o'cloek in the mrninc, :

the officer woke me up at two o'cloek in the ummc.

me that my place was robbed, | ’
MR, ISELIN: I offer these trinkets and timi-
for identification, i
THE COURT: Yes, ’ A
The 33 pawn tickets are marked rc“spootinb‘.’.i‘o’- »
ple's lxhi‘bits Nos, 1, 2 and 3, and the vsrimtr@tﬂi{
are collectively marked People's Exhibit No, 4 - .
&ll for identification, .
BY MR, ISELIN:
Q@ These three tickets I have shown you & tickets«-
you saw the goods they call for? A Yes,
Q@ And you identified them &s yours? A Yes, sir,
Q And &as having been in your store the night before the
robbery? A Yes, sir. vg
Q Where was it that you saw these coins and t is ring

that you say are yours? A In the police station in 1286th

Street,



et

e ——— ———

conversation with this defendant in regard to 'thi,s M '

Q@ The #ation house? . A Yes,

to me,
Q Never mind what they said to yél. o:dk
Q Who showed them to you? A The &ﬁ;
Q What is his name? A Teevan, W
Q Never mind what he &asked you,

there when he talked to you? A No.

A

Q Then you are not allowed to tell us

but he talked to you? A Yes, sir, i

Q@ And after he talked to you, he W

A Yes, sir, ,
Q And you knew them to be yours? A‘!’Os, . A
Q Now, at any time, Mr. Marisnson, did ;ﬂﬁ‘”&
A No, sir,
Q Never said anything to him at all? A Neo,
Q Did you say anything &t any time in the ’ﬂnm _
of this defendant about this burglary to Reed or to Frank
¥berle? A No, sir,
o_l Never said anything & all? A No, sir, '
Q@ Do you know the defendant at the bar, Unger? A -' .‘

sir.

A No, sir,
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MR . KINSIEY: He don't say that he em

MR, ISELI': No, you lro. right; Iw

Q@ You had never talked to‘ him before th. :

- A No,

Q And your store, that you have deseribed,
County of NewYork? A Yes, sir.,
THE COURT: That is conceded.

(No eross-examination,)

THOMAS F, TEEV RN, ouleda-aﬂfﬁtfgﬁﬁ%@?j

behslf of the People, being duly sworn, testified as

= 3 P it o

follows: ; £

o DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, ISELIN:
Q Officer, you are a member of the police foree of t.’m
City of New York, attached to the 32nd precinct, are you
not? A Yes, sir, .
: Q@ And you are on plain clothes duty? A Yel,”ﬁ;!.-}!'
Q And were on the 24th day of Jamuary? A Yes, sair.
Q Look at the defendant &t the bar, William Unger,
and tell me if you ever saw him before? A Yes, sir,
-

Q@ Diad yoﬁ arrest him? A No, Officer Kilroy arrested
him and brought him in tc me, as I wanted him and two other
men for burglary. |

MR, KINGEY: You are not asked that question,

The Court admonished the jury according to Section 415
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who was on the stand lastly:. before recess ,

THOMAS F., TEEVEYN, & witness for the People,

of the Code of Criminal Procedure,

Recess till 2:15 P.M,

MR, ISPLIN: With your Honor's ponantu. I unu
like to recall the complainant in this case, ovang o
an oversight that I committed this morning,

MR, KINSIEY: Before the compldnant is «M M&y

I understand that there is & witness ﬂros# mt-
Can we not first finish with his testimony?
MR. ISELIN: Does your HOnor thiulm’t ii'%ﬂiw
THE COURT: Yes, |
MR . KINSIEY: Now, I move thet your Honor &

from the record the voluntary declaration dftﬂ o

THE COURT: The stenographer will read it,

THE STENOGRAPHER: (Reading) "Q. Tid you wrest
him? A, No. Officer Kilroy arrested him and brouc!ﬁ'fj?f ;
him in to me, a8 I wanted him and two other loﬁ for
burglary.”

MR, ISELIN: I will eonsent, of course, that that
be stricken out, '

THE COURT: Yes; strike it out,

resumes the stand,



j
1§
b

H

‘?1

_— —— e e e .

4

DIRECT RXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR . I SELING

Q What is the name of the officer who b

fendant to you? A Kilroy; him and two others.
Q And where did Officer Kilroy turn this de
to you? A In the station house, He sent for *;

&1l in the Olympic Theater at 130th Street and T

Q FHow many persons did the officer at that

Reed and Eberle, ..

Q At that time did you s&y anything toth}ﬂ
&t the bar, or to either of the other W“IOM
presence of this defendant? A I said it tom.

| Q Yes or no; dd you? A Yes, lii'.

Q Now, tell us what you said a@nd what the gajjﬁ
was between you, if you remember? A I had & d’mom '
with Reed, W

Q FHow far away from you and Reed were this dofw
and Fberle? A About five feet, I should judge.

Q Did you whisper to Reed? A No, I was talking the
same a8 I am talking now,

Q So that he could hear? A Yes.

THE COURT : Tell us what was sald.

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Tell us everything that occurred in that conversas=
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tion? A I asked Reed about this

MR, KINSIEY: I object to that, It
(’J‘ ‘ ing in this case, This case was in 10’%
THE COURT: Yes, in reference to sm
THE WITNESS: I didn't say anything ta '

erence to this csase, |

BY MR, ISELIN: LAt
Q Nothing at &11? A Not &t that ttu‘.i.‘
Q When next did you speak to Reed or ﬁo th&l
in the presence of Reed? . = -=- That 1!; to w in

* ence of the defendant, or to the defedant in tm’”“
of Reed. A Not in the presence of Unggr. ¥ o
Q Never again? A No, sir, .Vlh took them pnt m;t

BTN

time, and talked to them, &
Q DIid you ever talk to Unger? A Yes, lir;' thtl
night,
Q What did you say to Unger? A After I found &all
this stuff and this ring and got it off him, I asked him =
- Q Now, nfficer, please answer my question., Well, I
withdraw the question for the purposes of that, Did you
search this defendant at any time? A Yes, sir,

Q@ When? A In the station house at the time they were

brought in,
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Q When? A Shortly uftorikrdi.

Q@ Did you find anything on this defemdant? A !‘w ﬂ!’i

Q What did you find on this defendant? Jlook at thlﬁ .
articles here, and you may step down for thut purpose, :
(Indicating the various articles marked collectively “For
identification Pecple's Exhibit No, #). A Therse was & r |
he had on his finger, |

Q Which ring? A This ring (Indicating).

Q What else? A This Buffale here (INdicating) was

found on him,

' Q This Buffalo badge? A Yes, sir; and all thess. s

€2 This here ring (Indicating) he said he bought for thr« l
dollars; that ring there -- &ll this stuff,

Q The other articles in this collection which I show

you? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you find any of these other articles on him, or
were you present when, if ewr, they were found by arnybody
else? A Yes, sir,

Q Did you find them; yes or no? A No, sir, Officer

- Kilroy found the revolver on him, and found the jimmies on
Reed and Fberle,

Q This gun or revolver was found on this defendant in

your presence? A Yes, sir,

Q@ By you? A No, sir, By Oofficer Kilroy.



. e e ———— - Pia.. RN i N

4

this

Q And he is here in court? A Yes, sir, _
MR, KINSIEY: I move to strike that ultu» |
Kilroy up here,
MR, ISELIN: I will, A
MR. KINSIEY: What is the use of asking this man

what he, Officer Kilroy, found?

MR, ISELIN: He saw it. It was in his presen: .

THE COURT: Motion granted, Do ﬁot §§11 u,_'£fMi:
another man did, but what you saw, . .

MR, ISELIN: What this defendant saw done in his if;v

presence,

THE COURT: Then objeotion overruled.

MR. KINSLEY: That was not brought out before.

WR. ISELIN: I beg your pardon, |
Q Now, from what portion of the per;hn or olnfh&ﬁc'if
deféndant did you see this revolver taken that is htrt’,ﬁg

MR, KINSLEY: I object to the question, on the g
that it is incompetent, and has no bearing on th; agmm% 
fact in issue here,. It has no connection with the bure
glary, because it is not shown that this defendant had
anything to do with the burglary so far.

MR, ISELIN: I beg your pardon. It has Dbeen
shown that the store was burglarized of these goods.,

MR . KINSIEY: (Continuing) And whether he had &

revolver upon his person on this night in question h&as



MR, ISELIN: Will the Itenogruph,r flll 1iﬁlg“‘ 

tion?

THPE STENOGRAPHER: (Reading) "Q. Now, from ﬂt

portion of the person or c¢lothing of this Qifia‘iit “:

you see this revolver taken, that is here?™ |

A From his hip pocket, 7

Q Look &t the two articles that I now ﬂ;;h“,aﬁé and
state whether you ever saw tho ee affic les ;n thmm
of the defendant? A Yes, sir, 3

Q Where were they? A At the station ham.

Q Where were they in regard to the dotcaatnt, I liti*

A He did not have them, but Reed &nd Eberle. -

Q Was this defendant present when they were found?
A ves, | ‘

Q He was present when they were found on ﬁ;.i? A Yeg
sir, .

Q Now, Officer, look at these articles that 1 m show
you (Indicating), and state whether you have ever ssen any
of them before, and if so where? A Yes, sir; in the station
house,

Q Was the defendant Unger present when you s aw them?

A Yes.
Q And where were they? A He had this Dbadge pinned

on his vest,
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Q On the defendant's vest? A Yes, dr. o éh A

Q Give me the badge. A (The witness ooi.iiﬁ&;i}?  Saa

Q Anything else? A Yes; this bunch of hyl(m
came off of him,

MR, KINSLEY: Which bunoh?

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Which bunch? A This bunch here (Indiesting).

Q You saw them taken from the defendant? | A fia;'iﬁfa?

Q By whom? A Officer Kilroy. They came off'oithtl:; |
Reed or Eberle, B

Q Were they taken from Eberle and the other dbtqngént?A
A Yes, sir, B

Q@ In the presence of this defendant? A Yes, sir,
The three of them were searched, one after the othi?. in t?glﬁ'
of the desk in the station house, : .

Q YNow, was any offer made by any one of these three
defendants in your hear ing while this dofendsnt.ungor 'lﬂ;
present in the station house? A In his hearing? »

Q@ In the hearing of the defedant Unger? A TReed made
a confession -=-

Q In the hearing of the defendant Unger? A Well,
that I won't say.

Q No? A That I won't swear to.

Q Then I understand you to testify that in the station

house there was no stutement made by any of the defendantss=

§
b aa



A By Feed there was,

: Q == in the hearing of the defent
not in his hearing,
Q Now, Officer, let us get down to

When, if ever, were these defendants

Q By whom? A By me,
Q@ You were present? A Yes, lif.
BY MR, KINSLEY: ’
ff What dgy was that? A The 2'")1;
BY MR, ISELIN:
Q of what? A Of January.,
0 And what court? A The 6th Distriet
Q@ And who was the Magistrate? A Judge
@ Now, at that time in the poilce court,
the defendant Unger say anything in regard tc
A No, s8ir,

Q Was anything said ty any person there? A T

Q@ Did you hear Reed say anythning? A Reed, yes.

- Q And how far was the defendant Unger from Reed M
Reed spoke in relation to this cuse? A Well ==

Q How many feet, Officer? But:uutaAfor thoj% ”

your oath, A VWell, .they were two steps about from w

of the floor, Reed was up against the desk, like up here
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(Indicating), one or two steps further, and they Wy
| ) g

MR yn,

g

& step lower, : 1
Q Did Reed' speak in much & tone of volse tham
could hear what he said? A The Clerk asked him -+« s
Q Did he? A I should judge he did.
Q@ In your opinion he d4id? A Yes,
Q And the defendant Unger was two steps down? A Yﬂi;9w s
He weas two steps down, t -
MR, KINSIEY: I object to his opinion a8 to whethsr
they heard or not, I objsect to that as inoolpatent.

THE COURT: I will allow it.

MR. KINSLEY: Exception,

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Answer the question? A When the Clerk of the Courti
George Cregere, asked Reed what he had to say &bout the Bh..3 ;<g
he said, "I plead guilty to the part I took into it.® |

Cregere asked him what part he took in it, and he said
he was outside of those premises when Unger and Eberle was
inside, He pleaded guilty to the paper ami signed it to
that effect,

Q Yow, weit & minute, Did you see the paper that I
show you in that police court on that day? A Yes, pir,

Q You did see that paper? A Yes,rsir.

MR, ICELIN: I will offer the complaint in evie

dence,
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MR , XINSIEY: I have no objection, 7Ea@;”‘

THE COURT: Mark it,

The ssaid paper is marked "People's lthdblf lb;fbilﬁ'ﬁ

in evidence,"

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Officer, you stated, I think, in answer to nr la-t e

question, that Reed pleaded guilty to the charge? A Yii, Iﬁﬁ.',f
Q Is that true? A That is true. s

Q In the complaint which is offered in evidnaoo, I f&]l

this question, "Give &ny answer you may think proper of the

circumstances appearing in the testimony aga&inst you, and

4
. y:

state any facts which yeu think will tend to your txaulpa-‘@€

tion, A, I am"--then the next word is inserted -- “"not

guilty of the charge, Harry B, Reed,"

MR. KINSLEY: Now, one moment;

I object to the quess
tion,

MR, ISELIN: I have mot finished it yet.

MR, KINSILEY : You have not finished it yet?

MR, ISELIN: No,

THE #0OURT: No, Let him finish the question,

Q (Continuing)-- how do you ==
MR, KINSLEY: No, no,
MR, ISELIN: Mg I not put my question?

THE COURT: Yes, certainly,but (To witness) do



not answer the question until I rule oﬁ
| BY MR, ISELIN: | A | -
Q@ == how do you explain the dicorupl;niiff
- | piece of evidence and what you have just ..i“}
fendant Reed pleaded guilty to the charge? (Y
MR , KINSIEY: I object to iﬁe qﬁq?tQ"
ground that the record is the best oViiia.i?J;
. THE COURT: Objection overruled. g
MR, KINSIEY: I take an oxceptiol. 1.1.;
on the ground that this is trying thn'ﬂhihﬂiiﬁi¢é'
and not this defendant, g a
el THE COURT: Objection overruled, . :
MR, KINSIEY: I take an exception. I diJ‘il‘Pvi
that it is incompetent for any purpo se 1n'r¢1i§&¢n;?»
this charge of buplary & lleged by the asreancni;‘
THE COURT: I will admit it,
BY MR, ISELIN:
Q Go ahead, Officer, and tell the jury why you say
that, A When he got back in the pen, and all three of
- them got together --
Q Was this after he pleaded guilty? A vyes, sir,
Q What did he say when he pleaded guilty? A He said
he was not guilty, |

Q That he wasnot guilty? A ves, to the Clerk.



THE COURT: You remembe r that.
wes outside of the premises when Unger and M
inside, :

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q@ You said he was outside, watching for those e
fellows, while they were in there doing the works: a ‘.

93T,

Q@ Did you see him sign his signature to m” .
A ves. : |

Q Was this paper on which up‘pcara this fm
tion, signed wher he pleaded guilty? A wl,amw
ed guilty, |

Q And d1d you see the complaimb: ' at mtmt A n,

Q. At that time wn the word "not" here on the lm
sbove? A ¥o,.

Q@ What happened, if you recollect? A When he went
bauck imto the pen , hmxossw gn@ the other two had gone back
into the pen, and after they had been arraigned before the
Judge, the Judge asked them what they had to sy hw it.,

Q@ Did he «sk Reed that? A ves, sir; and the other two



Pt Sos 5 o

Pleaded guilty, and Reed seid, *I o't plesd gailty $u Wis
charge, but to the burglary ifd 126th Street.” e
€ Reed said? A Yes, sir,

Q
brought before the Judge to plead, the d-temm Reed thn
said that he was not guilty of this charge? A Yes, ﬂﬂ‘.

Q Did you see who then inserted the word 'uot"'ﬂi. W
complaint? A I aid not, sir, ' ot

@ You don't know who insertedit? A No, sir.

Q YNow, the first time they were called upon to plead
by the Clerk, or were asked by the Clerkwhether they m : 4
guilty or not guilty, you ssy that Reed said that he was |
guilty of this affair, in that he had stood outnido- of thb A
premises while the other two, Unger and the other Ilﬂ.”"ﬁt
ingide; is that right? A Yes, sir.

Q@ You heard it? A Yes, gr,

Q Was anything said at that time in the presence of
this defendant to indicate what the premises referred to
were; was anything read to them by the Clerk,or was anything
s&id? _A Read t, Unger?

Q Read to any of them in Unger's presence? A Cregere
read the complaint to all of them,

0 And after the reading of that complaint, Reed said

that he was guilty of standing outside the premises while



the other two went in? A That 18 what he |
MR. ISELIN: With your Homor's leave.

the complaint,

§ That is the point,
THE COURT: I understand there is no
that it is conceded that the burglary ﬂng
MR, ISELIN: Yes, that the burglary mm
but I want to show to this Jury that at the t.m
said that he had a part in it, and stood om
- the other two went in, he had been 1nfof“‘ ﬁy '
ing of this complaint, that it was those premises
referred to in that particular street, '
THE COURT: That may be proper in rgbutm
at present it need not be read,. i
MR, KINSIEY: That is Reed? i L *
MR, ISELIN: Reed, yes,
Q Now, what did Unger say at that time in the police
court? A He denied all knowledge of it.

Q Oh, no; what did he say? YOou have been too long OI(
the forece not to know that the word "denied" is forbi“.

What did he say; then the jury will be sble to decide?

A FHe said he was not guilty,
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Q Md 4id he say anything hw | A

Q Now, at the time that thens gusbl
identification were found, &8 you say,
make any statement in regard to them? A ﬂi‘
them from some o ther felloi.

Q When was this burglary committed? &
between half-past eleven on Monday night and
Tuesday morning previous to the arrest,

Q The 24th? A Yes, sir,

Q And on what dy was it that you tm ;
on the defendant Unger? A On the zm.

0 The 26th? A Yes, sir,

WR . ISELIN: I will offer &% in num '1

them by him on the person of the dofondm w
his arrest,
THE COURT: Mark them, ff.’f.'
The said various articles are collntiw:"
"People's Exhibit No, 4."
MR, KINSLEY: You don't mesn to say that M
thing s were tuken from Unger?

MR. ISELIN: That is what the officer saild,
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MR, KINSIEY: The officer did not s
the kind. |

MR, ISELIN: (To the Stenogi'npm) Mw
the testimony. ‘ Ao

MR , KINSIEY: He is on the stand now,

BY MR, ISELIN:

s
A}

Q Officer, is it a fact that you saw sllth‘ﬂm
ticles that I hold here tauken from Unger? A lumqt t
Jimmies. |
MR. KINSIEY: Well, the articles o"gh‘t‘ ’to be
enumerated, | 4
MR. ISELIN: I offer one bunch of keys,
MR, KINSIEY: They &are Unger's. That is right.
MR , ISELIN: And I also offer one shield reading ‘
"Deputy U, S, Marshel," I offer one revolver, and m
of the stuff that the stenographer has marked &s
*People's Exhibit No, 4,for identificaticn™; these ar-
ticles contained in the yellow envelope. .
MR, KINSLEY: It is better to have them specified
on the record.
MR. ISELIN: Very well, Then T withdriw the offer
of People's BMxhibit No, 4 for identification, and I offer
in evidence one gold and black enameled ring, with the

initial in gold, "M", thereon,
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I also offer in evidence, further, tm '
which has been referred to as "Buffalo", I&ﬂlflﬂ ,,
ribbon and silver medal attached thereto. |

I further offer in evidence & round ciltir‘bﬁta  -
with the date "1758" thereon, and an inseription Onffsl:
other side in Latin, i

I also offer in evidence another round, ‘11 or

. e
i~ i L

coin with an inscription in French thereom, &md & hole
through the perimeter thereof. N
I also offer in evidence & copper coiﬂi{lmrﬂ—l %]

"One Cent, 1897%, o L

I also offer in evidence what &ppears to b§ ; -if@ﬁr;f>
cuff button with an inseription thereem in what purports
to be the Russian ladnguage.

I also offer in evidence another copper coin bcarinl;:
the inscription "One Cent, 1894", and bearfﬁg/tllo
other words, | 2

I also offer in evidence one silver coild with the
inserption thereon, "Vietoria Regina™, and other words.

I further offer in evidence one copper coin with the
inse ription thereon, "2-1896",/ and & coat of arms
of & double~headed Eagle,

T also offer in evidence & copper coin inseribed,

"Tradesmen's Currency" and "United States Copper",



I also offer in ovim what ”MW
ten-cent = lver pi.eoo of the mwa stthl _»
what appears to be & hole in 1it, unﬁ with the

o "A, M, B." in the monogram on the back thu-wt.

MR, KINSLEY : Novobjeotion.

The above enumersated articles aro‘ cou“ﬂ.ﬂ!v
marked t;y the stenographer "People's l:lﬂb&t!o.t.

BY MR, ISELIN: Rih
@ Now, Officer, look &t the pieces of ptmrhith
you, and which are ﬁarkeﬂ for identificqtioﬂ;fktiﬁ%éﬂtﬁ.&Q; :
People's Exhibits Nos, 1, 2 and 3, and state if ﬂ un .
- seen them before? A Yes, I have seen thqn'ﬁifere; ; e
0 Where did you first see those piecesof papar? A
(Indicating) was found upon Unger, here,
Q You refer to People's Exhibit No, 1 for 1&’@ttf!§§§a;
tion? A Yes, sir,

MR, ISELIN: I offer it in evidence,

MR, KINSILEY: No objection,

Admitted in evidence and marked "People's HExhibit
No. 1l, in evidence."

BY MR. ISELIN:
Q Where did you find the others, if &at all? A I was

told where to go and get them; at least, where he tried to

sell them the night hefore.



Q@ I can't make out one word you sy .

& man named Welsh,

e y AT
e 4 $4e 05

pieces of paper you have in your hand? A No, :

Q Did you spesk to this defendant in

Q Or did you hear the defendant spoken te
| : :

presence in regard to those pieces of piptrf‘f"

Street? A No, sir,
Q You never went there? A No, sir, ”
MR, KINSIEY: 1 want to move to ltrih |
- portion of the record where the witness .ut..& tl‘t ‘
he was told where to go and get them the night B -;‘;,

THE COURT: Oh, yes; strike that out,

CROSS=-EXAMINATIYW BY MR, KINSLEY:

Q FHow long have you been & police officer? A | £

fifteen yesars,

not? A Well, not so young,
MR, ISELIN: And not so old!
BY MR, KINSLEY:
Q Just for &« moment I want o take you back to the

police court, You know there is & railing outside in which
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prisoners charged with the commission of crime h*
[ e oy

A vYes, I understand.
Q And that is probably three feet from the m'i
or bench? A Yes, sir,

Q So that this man Reed was taken awsy from thﬁ ‘W

two and taken up to the Clerk? A No, sir. mrﬁiiu

railing there when we are going to arraign a ddnﬁmgm
there is no railing up where the Clerk makesout thoml-
plaint.,, That is only two steps from the gro'i;ﬁd.

Q That 4is away from where the prisonor; are hrralcn“‘t "
A Yes, sir, ‘

@ And he was taken up there, was he? A Yel; lh’; und
the other two were down two steps.,

Q So that his back was to the other two defendants,
and his conversation was with the Clsrk? A Ycl..

@ And the conversation was between the Clerk amd hime
self? A Yes, sir,

Q@ And you say that was only about five feet away?
A I didn't s&gy it was five feet,

Q Four feet? A It is not, It is only the length
of two steps,

Q Do you see that bench where the 8lerk is sitting
here? A I do,

Q That is sbout £ixm the distance from where the
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prisoners are arrpigned and stand before the W“
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Q And, besides that, there were two steps 'MO

4%

iy

B G
N s

4

walk up to see the Clerk, that much distence between them?
A Precisely. | ]

Q Were the defendants Ulger and Eberle up &t the rdﬂ*
ing, or were they up at the side of Reed? A NO; they -
were down two steps,

Q@ And they were supposed to hear all that Reed said?
A I don't know whether they were supposed to hear what M
gaid or not,.

Q You would like to have the jury understand that?
A I don't know a8 I would,

Q@ YOu are perfectly impartial? A I don't guite
understand you,

Q@ You don't say anything unless it is something yown
saw? A No, eir,

Q And you don't call on your imagination for anything?
A Yo,

Q@ You are perfectly honest and sincere with reference
to anyone who is charged with the commission of & crime?
A Yes, sir,

MR, ISELIN: Now, I will &sk again for permission

to recall the complaining witness,
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THE COURT: Yes .,

MAX MARIANGSON, complainant, being recal
by the People, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. I SRLING:

Q Were you present in the police court when Cﬁ.

defendants under this indictment, Unger, Reed mﬂcric,‘ ,
were beought before the Clerk in the police colf@? A Ystg
Q@ You were? A Yes, sir, ;
Q Did you hear &ny conversation between the dif.u&_tit‘
Reed &and the Clerk; yes or no? A Yes; sir, 45
Q At that time how far, &8s you would estimate it, h_?‘
feet, was the defendant Unger and the defendant Eberle I‘thﬂb
ing from Reed? A Well, sabout two steps.
Q@ Do you mean two paces? A No,
Q Or two steps? A Two steps, Here (Indioa#iﬁgj is
one step, &nd here it is (Indieating), L 4&@ |
Q That would bring the defendants Eberle andh”r
below the level at which Reed was standing? A ves, sir,
Q Now, taking it from Reed to the other two defend-
ants, who were standing lower down, &about how many feet
would you say it was? A About & foot and a half, |

Q@ That is your best judgment? A That is my best

jJudgment, of cow se,



A Yes, sir,

- A e b

Q@ Will you state to this jury, lmﬁ!u‘

recollection, what it was?
S MR, XKINSLEY: Just &« minute. I Mﬁ%
liminary question, ' 3

; MR. ISELIN: I have no objection,

| THE COURT: Yes,

| - Q And you were standing directly “_ﬂi‘q mg t
:‘ Y sir. ' k ot
Q And those other two men were back ofhiﬁ?,g,l
sir, .
Q@ Down below, two steps? A Yes, sir,
@ Now, the conversation that was carried on hm 4
Reed and the Clerk and you was intended for the three af you,
and not for the people who were standing behind you; isn't ‘
~ that right? A Well, the only question--

Q I am only asking you, : S
MR, TSRLIN: I objeet to that @s oalling for & com=
clusion from & witness who is manifestly not &m expert

on the question,
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(No ruling.)

BY MR , KINSLEY :

Q Was the conversation between the Clerk Mm
intended for you or the people stmding.bohind W"
VR. IRLIN: Objected to. .
THE COURT: Objection sustained,
THE COURT: How cen this witness tnn*& 1 ﬁ
intended for? s e
MR. XINSLEY: But he can tell what he thiah.
0 The conversation was between the Clerk and Mo‘!
$HE COURT: Mr. Kinsley, you may tt“‘ﬁl whet
it was in such a tone that it could be hdu!'l ntl;:v

distance.

MR. KINSLEY: But I don't want te ask that

question, !
THE COURT: I won't 13;, you ask the other quol%lu.f”
MR, KINSILEY: I will ask this quoutloh, and yowr
Honor may rule it out:
Q@ The conversation that was had was between the Clerk
of that court -- the police court -- &and Reed?

MR. ISELIN: No objection to that,

BY MR, XKINSLEY:

Q (Continuing) Is that right? A Was between who?

Q@ The Clerk and Reed? A There was no conversation .



he was guilty of this charge.
Q The Clerk was asking Reed questions s
A That is what I say. |
BY MR, ISELIN:
Q He don't ask what he ‘&sﬁw him,
together, the defendant Reed &nd the c&;rghf
A Yes, sir, V

BY MR, KINSLEY:

form? A Yes, sir,
Q@ Two steps up? A Yes.
Q@ Now, he was net asking Psed awma‘
was8 he; say yes or no, A (No answer.) |
Q Say yes or no. A No, he didn't ask Mﬂ-jjj
about Unger or anybody else,

Q@ That is &ll I asked you, A Yes, gr,

DIRRCT EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. ISELIN:

Q Will you state to the jury, in accordance wi.th Q
former question, what the conversation was Dbetween m M
and Reed, 8 well &8 you recollect it; everything tiat was

said?



"BY MR, KINSLEY:

within hesaring distance, and that the conversation
intended to reach the defendant's ear.
MR, ISELIN: That makes no differemce.
THE COURT: Objection overruled.
MR, XINSLEY: I take &n exception. ;
BY MR, ISELIN: s
Q Go &head, Mr, Marianson, please, A The Ghrk
asked him if he was guilty of the charge, and mnttouo‘ th
three names; and he said =- | '
Q How do you mesn that he memtioied She BRNE B
Tell us what he said, A He said, "Are you guilty of
robbing the drug store at 994 East 165th Street?® A!l’yoA
said, "I was not inside of the drug store, but I was enlw
looking out while the other two"-- mentioning the names-=-

Q@ What names did he mention? A [Eberle and ==

Q Unger? A Yes,-- "while Eberle ami Unger were
inside; I was looking out,"
BY MR, ISELIK:
Q@ That is what Reed said? A That is what Reed said.
Q And you heard it? A ves, I heard it when he said

it to the Clerk,



A

Q Now, were you pres nt thereafter -- Oh, .

minute; I withiraw that. Did the Clerk read in
while you were there, this complaint? A vyes.
O Q To either of the defendants?

MR, KINSLEY: That is & general qvnlti“g

of the defendants." Reed is the man on triﬂ

| MR, ISELIN: No; it is Unger,

witness. These men were not allowed to talk ¢
o were not consulted, 3
THE COURT: Objection overruled.,
MR, KINSLEY: 1 take an exception .,
THE COURT: Yes,
BY MR, ISELIN:
Q Did the Clerk read it to Reed? A Yes,
Q And was the reading of thie instrument by the Clerk
to Reed prior to the statement by Reed that you have h“if“‘f
& to; was it before Reed said what you say he said? A No, sir;
after he read the complaint to him he signed it.
Q@ Then Reed said -~ A Yes; then he gave him tho. ' %

age and whatever it is here,



CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. mm, |
Q You read English, do you not? A x':
Q You have read this complaint, have 3
sir,

Q What is the first sentence of the ¢

3

have charged here? A I can't remember it m o
Q@ You have just had it in your hand’ﬁ;a‘;;‘ |
little bit excited,
Q Can you remember anything tht is ltif't'd_
plaint? A Oh, yes; VI remember & good -lw
Q You remember the property; that is ail, w
A Well, I remember what he said. _
Q You remember how old you are?. AT think tnnty—
seven, if I ain't mistaken, and that he gave.hia MQQ
Jersey. ’ e
Q I don't think you undestood my question, Yu M
where you live, do you? A ves, sir, i
Q Wiere do you live? A 994 East 165th Street,
Q YoU live there yet? A Yes, dr,
Q Do you know when you swore to this compla int?
A Yes, I do, |
Q When? A What date or what?

Q Yes; what dite? A I think the 27th; I think so,



&
¥

IO e

e TS et

X e

3

I know 1t was on Priday, G

Q On what date was the burglary
the 23rd and 24th. | i

Q@ In the morning? A Well, ittuﬁ!
BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Do you know whether it was in ti':l
between half-past eleven &t night and t
morning . |
BY MR. KINSLEY:

Q Now, this was sworn to on the
A What is that? £

Q@ This complaint. On what dsy wcrczm
A On Friday. '
BY MR, ISELIN:‘
Q PFriday? A Friday, yes; that is right, The

think,
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A Yes, sir,

EENRY o.'i‘!z"nbn

of the People, being duly im

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ISllxit

Q You are a member of the police fqrti*;?fﬂﬁa.
of New York, are you not? A Yes, sir. |

Q What is your precinct? A 32nd.

Q And what was your precinct on tho em w
of this year? A 32nd. e

Q Did you arrest the defendant at the bar g

Q When and where? A On the zﬂﬁh'ﬁﬁ_
Olymphic Theatro, at 130th street and Third l M;
Q About what time? A About half mt tuh%
evening. : .
Q What day of the week was that? A I tmgn ’
on Thursday night. : ; :
Q And who was with Unger, if anyone? A A Wty
the name of Reed, and another party named Ebcrlo.‘ ] | .H'r
Q Were you accompanied? A I wae at the time I ,4.‘,‘{;; “
them under arrest., |
Q What was the first thing that you said to those thfin
defendants, if they were together, and what did thpy ll!“l

you? A They were all separate at the theatre. !l&g‘ll',



man here Eberle Ore--
Q Unger you mean? A

at the theatre.

and told him I wanted to see him on the
few minutes, and I brought him out; and ‘e;i'

and Eberle were inside. ol

Q What do you m;#n by stating that ;miﬁk'
A* I took him outside in the lobby of the th!{l
told him he was wanted at the precinet by one of thl ’r&ﬁ'
€inct detectives.

Q Did vou tell him what for? A I teld mrw
ed burglary". . :

Q What did you say? Go ahead, officor; and speak
loud? A And he says "All right. I will go with 7?!.'
I left him in charge of another policeman and went in for 1
other two men.

Q Who was there; what officer? A An officer named
John Elliott. :

Q@ And you went back into the theater? A Yes, sir, ﬁﬂﬁ.
I got the other two men.

Q You mean Reed and Eberle? A Yes, sir,



Q And what did you do with them? A
out and left them also in charge. ;
Q@ In charge of Officer Elliott lll MQ

all three in charge of Officer Elliott.

Reed confessed-- X% R

Q Now, please don't use that word. Iu!ﬁ
please that that be stricken oute.

THE COU'?‘D‘ Yes.

A I told Re.d that he was wanted at ﬂlﬂ st
BY MR. ISELIN:

Q In the presence of Unger? A Yes,

Q@ And what did Reed say? A He asksd me "whet f’w
And I told him that he was suspected of 'br.m 1!“ ‘
places in our mecinct and outside of our mem

Q@ Did you mention any place? A No, sir.

Q@ Was anything said in regard to breaking inte tl.li'
premises No. 994 East 165th street then?

A Y.B.
Q Now, by whom, and what was said? A By Reed.
Q What did Reed say? A He confessed that he=-

Q@ Doen't say "confessed". A He told me that he had

broken into this drug store, or rather that he was on wateh
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while the other two men broke in.
Q What other two men? A FEberle and Ungers
Q And what became of those three men? A I‘brutzitJ W;’

to the station house.

for officer Teeven.
Q In the station house? A Yes. ‘
Q And then what happened? A I told Officer Teeven

that they were the men that he was loocking fors

Q Did you say that in the presence of Unger?

A Yes, sir.

- Q Did Reed say anything? A No.
Q Or Eberle or Unger? A No.
Q@ And what occurred? A We searched them.
Q All in the presence of each other? A Yes, sir, ;
Q Did yom personally search any of them? A I lqsrch!l:f
the three of them with the assistance of Officer Teeven.
@ Did you find any articles on the defendant Unger?
A Yes.
- ‘
- Q Look at the contents of this table and state whether

you see on the stenographer's table here, among the exhibi ts

for the People any articles which you found on Unger?

MR, KINSLEY: You can take up the articles, the
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the revolver and coins and rimng and pawn
and the badge and show them to him. f
A (After examining the said articles) 1htz‘1 L
that off his person.
BY MR, ISELIN;
Q What is "that"? A A revolver. :
Q I show you a bunch of keys? ’A Yes, Iir; 1 ‘
from off his person, .
Q I show you a bronze object marked "U., S. Deputy
Marshal"? A I took that off his vest.
Q It was pinned on his vest? A Yes, sir.
Q I show you a gold and black enameled ring, iitl'ihi‘ni

initial "M"? A That was taken off by Teeven=-- off his

fingers.
MR. KINSLEY; That is correct.
MR, ISELINQ I object seriously to thi.. com=
ments.

MR, KINSLE ; I say "Yes, right."

THE COURT; It is conceded that all these
that are mmrkcd in evidence were talm from the person
of the defendant.

MR. KINSLEY? Those articles, the ring, the badge,
coins, the revolver and the keys, yes; all those

were taken fram the defendant.



THE COURT: Tt is conceded?

MR. KINSLEY; Yes.

MR. ISELIN: very wellj it is uut ded.

THE COURT: Yes. Then why waste ﬂ fur
time? ' 4

BY MR, ISELIN

A No, sir. : ol
Q And after they had been searched, M boeh-
them? A They were placed downstairs !5 Qiﬁi: ﬂ.
Q When were they arraigned, if' at -'.11,» h ih. h
Court? A On the 26th. 2
Q The 26th? A Yes, sir.
Q That was two days after? A Two days m.
Q And did you hear anything said by the dotm
Unger in the Police Court? A Neo, sir. |
Q Yow did not? A No, sir,

Q Did you hear anything said by the defendant Reed

ment? A The complaint clerk.,



Q And how far in feet as you can best
were the defendants Ungor td MM tfﬁ
to the camplaint clerk? A Oh, I mc a

Q What did Reed say to the clerk? A

MR, TSELIN: That may be 'm “

consent.

MR, KINSLEY: Oh, let it stand., ¥ew h
lots of that in there.

BY MR, ISELIN:

and the jury will make up their minds as to what W
did? A After the complaint was read to Reed, h‘f_

el==

asked him if he was guilty or not guilty? He
guilty"; and he said he was on the lookout where the ltw
two men had entered the drug store. A

Q Who said that? A Reed.

Q Which other two men? A Fberle and Unger.

Q Now, were you present in Court when the Mum
or either of them was called up before his Honor l&clltun

Mayo? A Yes, sir.



the presence of Unger in answer to the M
as to whether or not he was guilty. 'hl§7

the Magistrate? A He said he was not

he was guilty of breo.king into a ;mory

street.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. KINSIEY:
Q@ How long have you boog_&"jliﬂi;!;

yearse.

he is guilty or not guilty,'ho makes an
A (No answer). BE
Q Don't you know, as a matter of fact, thtﬁéiiki§~
of the clerk to put down his explanation? |
MR. ISELIN; I object to that.

Objection sustained. Exception.

.

BY MR. KINSLEY:

Q Say whether you do or not?

A
- e ¥
B e -

R A i e g

Objected to.

Objection sustained. Exception.
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explanation?
Objected to.
Objection gustained. GCdptlﬁgﬁ‘f
THE COURT: The Court will tm 3
of the fact that whatever he a;tdjfi Gii ﬂ@ w
have been written down. i
BY MR. KINSLEY: o
Q Will you be kind enough te look 0#0: £§!
put to Reed, Unger, and the other young m.m
there is anything of that éhuruﬁtor in that aper? ‘ :
MR. IS:LIN; Never mind, officer. 'I'hhgigﬁa
the question on the ground that the paper 1t‘ﬁh;

evidence of its contents.

jurye.

Objection sustained. Exception.
BY MR, KINSLEY:
Q Did you ask the defendant Unger anything about the

ring that he had on his finger? A Neo, sir, T did not,
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you found? A No, sire
Q Did you ask him anything about the
had in his pocket?

A NO, sire.

Q Don't you ever ask questions? A
not mim, I was only searching him for
The prisoners were arraigned at the time
desk.

Q You arrested this man here? A

¥

sir. y
Q@ VWhich officer did interrogate thﬂﬂ
MR . ISELIN: If you know.

A Officer Teeven. o
MR. KINSIEY: T will ask to have h

a moment.

THOMAS F., TEEVEN, a witness for the

4K

being recalled for further cross examinatiom,

as follows:

’

BY MR, KINSLEY:

Q Officer, did you ask the defendant where Mnt 3



pawn ticket which you found om his pmc'ﬂf?‘f‘f
Q And where did he say hc get it? A :
from another fellow. | ;
Q Did he say anything about getting 1t or
A He did not say he bought it. _ e
Q Do you know a man connected with tN
Hotel or connected with the Olymphie W
the Mount Morris Buildtng, who Hed s A e nm
A He had two. .
Q You did not arrest him, did yow? Q
the station house, | » . ‘
Q But you let him go? 'A certnniy', ”, ;;h';
Q You thought those pawn tickets roprnam tkm A
property; is 4that right? A Yes, sir; and lu S
got them from him.
Q YNow, did I ask you for that? Why don'tyuu‘u@"}_
you are asked questions? Dont't you know=- now we '111
g0 into that question-- didn't he say he bought one from
a man that he saw talking to this defendant? A Vhe said
that?
Q This man conchtod with the theatre up there?

A That he had boughte=

Q@ Yes, that he bought one representing a watch?
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Q said he simply got 1t? A Yes, li?:f

Q Now, did you ask the defendant anything i

ol ring that he had on his person?
A T did.
Q Did you? . A Yes, sire
| Q And what did he tell you about that? S He said
: that he had bought it for three dollars. | A o
Q And what did he s'ay about those '00,15._"4! A m.
; he got them from another fellow. ~%;:  ﬁ;Q;f» r
-

Q Didn't he say that he paid for them? A Ne,
sire.

Q Didntt he tell you that he paid five cents apiece

for them? ,A NO, Si!’; one ring, he sald h-.b ”“mm i

dollars for that. e
o e gt

T

Q Now, don't you know whati this young man's ilv 7
is? A I don't know anything about him. 4
Q@ Don't you know why he carried that revolver?
A I do not.
Q Don't you know that he was connected with a ruilroa‘9 f
A He was once. )

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Then you do know something about him? A Neo; he was
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MR, KINSLEY: I am exa
THE COURT: Let Mr. Kinsley fi

‘

BY MR. KINSLEY:

Q What was his occupation? A No. .
with the New Haven Railroad, but I m’gfw ;
positi on was. . ‘

Q But you do know that it is on*
men and conductors to carry ronlﬁ“ :
A (No answer).

Q If you don'tknow, just say .”f;#;f
no, sir. '

MR, ISELIN: 1 have a couple of
ask with the Court's pominhi; |
THE COURT; Yes.

v

FURTHER DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, ISELIN: 7
Q Let me ask you this question, Officer: m

gee found, or did you find on this defendant any m* 1
carry a revolver? A No, sir, :
MR, KINSI.EY; Oh, now. It is ‘a.vloh“fdl

of the Corporation Ordinance. |

MR, ISELIH; Ch, these young crocks all de

MR, KINSLEﬁ Your Honor did not hear that,

THE COURT: Neo.
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MR. ISELIN; If your Honor MIM |
I will repeat it, ;
THE COURT; No, I do not want to w l‘lc
These side remarks by the District LtW?
sel for the defendant are impropers |
MR . KINSI.KY? I move that the 1
which have been displayed before WJWW
as things capabio O0f == A:‘
HE COURT: Yes; put th‘ out qt :1&“

MR. KINSLEY - (Contim&i‘)»h ﬁm

e

to belong to the trade of a hurglw, and 'htcil
found in the possession of a man charged with the
commission of this crime, be strickm‘tr;ﬂ the r
ard from the consideration of the Jma
THE COURT: Yes; motion granted.
MR, KINSLEY:' I now move that your Honor ins ‘
the jury to acquit on the ground that there is not
any evidence whatever that this defendant was ‘ua “
the vicinity of the store that is alleged to have
burglarized, and which is conceded by the defense tv‘ .

have been burglarized, and that the ring that was
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foudd on the defendant and claimed 1’ J
or a portion of the proceeds of 0!!‘ ,4,”
found in the possession of 'tht'iotm
afterwards, and he explained whers ipi ¢
it. There is no evidence whutbvor&&ﬁi

THE COURT: That is & subjest m “
to the jury. (
MR. KINSLEY: But thers is n_gp..jﬁ
all that this man was connnctcl.iiﬁﬁf”
THE COUR!é Motion 40niq¢,~ib§}’
MR. ’ et
S bt o w4 S R

oo,
3
5

THE DEFENSE.,

WILLIAM UDNGER, the defendant, called as uﬁf’f’_
on his bwn behalf, being duly sworn, testified i§ éJ
lows;

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. KINSLEY;

Q How old are you, Unger? A 17.

Q Did you on the 24th of January, 1905, .linu, or
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the premises No. 994 East 165th street? A No, li!‘a

Q Do you know anything about that alleged btﬁﬁl&jbﬁf
A No, sir. -

Q What is your business? A Brakeman om the “'OU
New Haven and Hartford Railroad.

Q Now, you had in your possession, five or iit
which were identified by the complainant as hil prﬂptrﬁﬁ$‘5
where did you get those coins? A I bought them for m&_
cents apiece. He had a whole poketful of them; hQ*
ing them and was throwing some of them aways. MY

Q Now, there is a rimgr which the compdainant cliﬁni
is his property and which was found on your finctr; where
you get that?

A Bought that off the same fellow.

Q And there is a pawn ticket representing a pair of
sleeve buttons. Where did you get them? A I paid a dolld
for them.

Q Got them off the same fellow? A Yes, sir.,

Q@ That revolver, you say, belongs to you, does it
not? A Yes.

Q@ The officer found it with you? A Yes, sir.
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CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, ISELIN: | ol

‘,‘f
Q Where do you live? A 898 Eagle avona‘.v‘°ru YRY i

Q Try hard to raise your voice. You have got “‘é’i‘iﬁé
to these gentlemen here. Don't speak to me 1a'angtl?ti¢ifg
questions; speak to these gentlemen down here Cﬁf A |
the end, and then we will all hear you? A ‘ii,aﬁirs

Q Where did you say? A 898 Eagle avcnﬁ» jont 3

Q That is in th§ Bronx, isn't it? A 151, §§7.7 »

Q How long have you lived there? A Abaij_i;ybjr.'f7-!i

Q Whom did you live there with? ‘A With my mother.

Q Alone? A No; mother, father and two bft{?#l‘i*
and three sisters. '

Q Two brothers, three sisters, your mother, your fl&hﬂ?{
and yournelf?' A Yes, sir. | :
Q You were arrested on the 28th day of January, were

you not?

MR. KINSLEY£ Yes, the 28th; I guess that “"' ‘
right.

THE COURT& Yes; that is consented to, mng I
understand.

MR, ISELIN: The 28th, yes, that is consented
to.

Q You were there at that time? A Yes, sir.

Q And you know you are indicted with a boy called Harry
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B, Reed and another boy called Frank K.

know that? A Yes, sir.

were arrested? A Yes, I had seen them. ‘

Q Now, tell us where you first llW'l“h
knew Eberle about three days. He was a wt%iﬂ?:
street restaurant. i

Q ZEberle was? A Yes, sir.
with Eberle? A No, sir; I went thom w’

Harry B. Reed about a week, and I met hﬁl thabgb.ﬂl*j 
on 2nd avenue.

Q@ A pool room on Second avenue you met mm!‘w
in? i :
A Yes, sir,

Q And Fberle was a waiter in a restaurant? A .iii;{
sir.

Q And you knew him from going te the restaurant?
A Yes, sir; I went there to get something to eate.

Q Now, you say you were a brakeman on the ltt'!ﬁﬂt ‘~}
New Haven and Hartford Railroad? A Yes, sir, :

Q How long were you employeé by him? A I was

ed from last March.
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Q TLast March? A Yes, sir.

Q March, 1904? A Yes, sir,
Q And how long did you work there? A '011,,1

ed there, it was four months, then I got diw

A Yes, sir.
Q For what reason? A For missing lr ;m* :

'X

Q But for four months you worked tm?
Q What time did you go there? A The f{rﬂ o:

Marche. e

’4

Q Then you worked there, March, mu,, m ﬂ

A Yes, sir. :

Q And you were discharged about the end otmg "
you n;)t? A Yes, sir, » |

Q Then what did you do? A Then I went up to White
and I worked there about a couple of months.

Q For whom? A TFor wartin Powers.

Q Whitestone? A Yes, sir,.

Q And whom do you say you were working for? A Martia
Powers.

Q What is his business? A Livcry stable.

Q At Whitestone? A Yes, sir,

Q That is on Long Island? A Yes, sir,

Q And you worked there two months for him? A Ne,
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sir. I worked-- well, yes, just about twk

Q That would be July and August? A !"§

Q And then whom did you work for? A ﬂ“i 1

= on the railroad againe. e
Q To the New York, New Haven and Hlftford=j‘11§7 f
A Yes, sir. ' ;
do for them? A Brakeman. ‘
Q Had you in your former engagement 'i€; t§ii§ 
as a hmkeman? A Yes, sir. . |
Q So you went back there in Sop‘“*i‘ jgﬁd
© Q Of 1904? A Yes, sir.

Q@ And how long did you work a§ a brakeman {ﬁhﬁi‘
A I worked np to around December, the luttqa\jtrts;gt“ 
December, and I fell off the train and got my head hhff;)w
I laid off a couple of months, |

0 In the latter part of what month? A December.

Q Were you a freight or passenger brakeman? A A trni%
brakemane. 2

Q On hoth occasions when you were employed there?
A Yes, sir.

Q@ And who was your bogs? A VWell, Mr. Curtiss;

he hires men down there.

. Q@ On both occasions? A Yes, sir.



m . oo mm . ,,...m' I T e e e
b T 8 s i

i
|
i
!
i
fr
b
!
|

21

Q What became of you when you left that ¢
last time--- how did you come to leave th‘iéf”f
last time, in December? A I fell off a & (
myself and ain't been back since.

Q Didn't go back at all sinco? A Nbo»i‘ .

Q And have you worked since? A 'i;;~ ﬁkﬁ? *!.i?i
two weeks ago since I left. _ 7

Q Well, it was in December? A Two or thres
agoe :

Q It was in December; in what part of'nﬁciiﬁgf;
1t? A About the 30th of December, I guess; the latter
part of December. ' i

Q So you left then in the latter part of ﬁ‘#lﬁhd#,,f
and have not worked since? A No. 7

Q Were you in the hospital? A No.

Q What does your father work at? A My father died
last Saturday, while I was in prison.

Q Now, tell us whom you bought this pawn ticket foI ¢1”A
People's Exhibit No. 1 in evidence, calling for ouff ltﬁhék
A I couldn't tell you his name., I just happened to il!ﬁ*&

to him down there, and he saild~--
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Q Down where? A Down at the Olymphic
Q The very night you were arrested? Ay

Q And how long before the officer arres

Q In the theatre? A Né; outside the the
Q Tt was outside the theatre, then? AM

Q It was not in the theatre? A ﬂogvfu-

1»

Q How far away from the theatro‘vttjfgil L?ff'ka
was right down by the doorjb i ;
Q By the door of the theatre? A lhl, ;1r; }i’}
Q At seven o'clock? A Yes. |

Q What were you doing there at seven o'clock?

¥

A I was standing there and had a talk and.di&n't-hlal ﬁ§='
place te go, so I thought I would wait theres
Q You have a home, have you not? A Yes.
Q Then tell me how you bought this ticket? A '511{ ;7
he came over to me and asked me if I have a match, and I
said, "Yes, I got a match"; and he said "How is the shll't”
week?" I says "I don't know how the show is; T guess it
is a pretty gond show."
S0 he commenced to jingle his money in his pocket;
80 I asked him, I saide--

Q Speak up louder. A I said "You must have lots of
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money." ge sald "Yos, a lot of foreign eoi:
sell you a couple of you want me to." |
So I says "Let me see them." :
Q@ You said that? A Yes. S0 he p‘llﬂt
Pulled them pawn tickets out too. V ‘
Q All three pawn tickets? A Nojhe lﬂdb
those were on top. | 1 g
Q. Those three? A Yes, sir; ringp and v&teh‘i, S

he hai pawn tickets for a whole bunch of them. ;

couple of those coins", so I took a couple of the ??

cents apiece.

five cents apiece? A Every one of them,

Q They are more than a couple, are they not; did'mi:
buy all these coins from that man? A Yes, sir.

Q At five cents apiece? A Yes, =ir,

Q (Counting) Eight coins, and you paid him forty
cents for the coims? A Yes, sir,

Q And what happened? A So he says "I will sell yom
a good ring if you want to buy it." So I says "All right"a

@ Sell you what? A He said he would sell me a good
ring if I wanted to buy it, so I says "All right, if i% vtll

fit"; and he said it was W; 80 I says "That is my



& e AR £ et S T e

/
s

a4,

initial"; and he says "I will sell it to ;

and he asked three dollars for it and I bough

hime Eaie -

- Q This (indicating) is the ring, ism't 1¢9
A Yes. '
Q@ That makes three dollars and forty cent

him? A Yes, sir.

buy any decent pawn tickets?" I sald 'ﬁt me
and he said "I have a good pair of cuﬁ”h

give you them for a doll&r.f‘ ' TR

Q So that was four dollars forty? A Yes.

Q And then what? A Then I wentupstairs and he
sold one of them to the doorkeeper there.

Q You saw him? A Yes, sir,

Q Do you know which ticket he sold? A I think it
was for a watch,

Q That one (indicating)? A Yea, sir.

Q He sold that to the doorkeeper? A Yes, sir.

A And how about the other ticket; do you know
how he sold that? . A No, sir,

Q Can't tell us how he sold that one? A Ne, sir,

Q@ Now, how about the cuff buttons? A That one
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was inside with them others.

eight now? A All of them, I said; I diﬁ't

there were. |
Q I asked you and counted them for ygnﬁw

me that you bought the cuff buttons moﬁ M | A

siry among them pieces of coine.

Q You had never seen this man before, had you? ¥
A Yes, sir; I had seen him before. >
Q Where had you seen him? A In Schaefer & SCWC‘
pool room I saw him.
Q Where is that? A 125th street and Third avenue.
Q pHave you been there often? A Three or four
times. :
Q While you worked for the New York New‘Haren & xartftﬂ‘_'
Railroad Company, did you work at night? A While I
was over there I worked by night time. |
Q How then did you get to the pool rocem if you worked

at night time for the railroad company? A Well, I would

go on on a call,



 acaiea e

you would amuse yourself by going to the peaol

right, isha't it? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, this man after selling this ‘“M!#&

to the doorkeeper at the theatre, went upstairs?

knowe

Q Didn't you state to me before tm ifter 9
sold this ticket to the doorkoepot,hg !!;ﬁvibﬁtliiﬁ?
A No, sir. Yot

Q Well, I will leave it to the jurys Now, 3‘!!‘%’7
in? A Yes, sir. ‘ :

Q And where did you go? A I went in a box seat,

Q@ You had bought this ticket and you had paid a aoxhq§=
for that? A Yes, sir.

Q What were your wages as brakemsn for the New Yirk,
New yaven & gartford Railroad Cempany? A - Ihll'ﬂl hi‘i
as $21 a week and $28 a week.

Q How much did you make? A I made as high as twtnt'h-;‘

one dollars.

BY THE COURT:

Q You are seventeen years old? A Yes, sire
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’

BY MR, ISELIN:

Q Now, you had no idea that Frank Eberle )
had you? A No, sir,

Q None at all? A No, sir.

Q@ You had known Eberle before, you 'lﬂ. A
days. O

Q Had seen him several times in a r.%'i
A Yes, sir, 5 fg

Q And you also had no idea that Harry 3;"“” 5
there? A No, sir, h. ‘ |

Q In the theatre at all? A No. |

Q And you had known him for sometime, hqd~;'tf
A About a week. » =

Q You had seen him several times? A !bl;ﬂsﬁto'f |

Q So it was just what you might call a oolnciiinﬁ.":
'thax you three happened to be there togotﬁor? 5
A Yes, sir,

Q Now, do you really-- you are 17 years old, are yom
not? A Yes, sir.

Q Not a bit older? A No, sir.

Q Do you mally mean to tell this jury that you knew
that the tickets sold by this strange man te the doorkliyirl

was for a watch? A Yes, sir; I seen it,

Q You saw the ticket? A Yes.
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keeper. : .

Q How long have you known the doorkeeper? A ;-;I m
him now from being there last year. | |

Q You go often to the theatre? A Yes, llr;sligé;; H
quite oftens. | ‘.

Q You had paid out on this evening, aoetrdiﬁt fﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁf
own account, to this strange man $4.40, and for ybnr tliﬁwﬂ
you paid one dollar? A Yes, sir.

Q Making five dollars and forty cents? A Yes,
sir. 2

Q@ Andthis was on the 28th of January, wasan't it?
A Yesj sir.

Q And that was a month after you had been injuredes-
a month after you hal left the New Yokk, New nlv;n‘Qthrtﬁ“:
ferd Railroad Company? A Yes, sir.

Q So you had not been working for a month? A No,
sire.

Q And what did your father do for a living? A Painte
ere.

Q Was he working? A No, sir; he was paralyzed.

Q And did your mother work? A Yess

Q Where? A For a bank.

Q Where did she work? A She takes charge of a bank
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Q As janitress? A Yes, as janitor of the btit@:
Q And besides you, she had two daughters; is that
right? A vyes, sir-- three sisters.
Q And two other boys? A Yes, sir; !llll, "‘“‘5'

Q How old was the eldest of those four children?

teen, and then another one is seven; and the boy is sev
or eigit, one of them, the other one is three.

MR, ISEIJNQ That is all.

MR. KINSLEYé I understand, may it please |
Court, that this young man who ig in the Diltfiﬁté
Attorney's office to some extent 1is here in COun§¥
and I should like to have him called by the District,
Attorney or by the Court.

MR, ISELIN; May I ask to whom counsel allitaiﬁ

MR . KINSLEY; Reed.

MR. ISELIN: No; he is a co-decfendant, and I de
not care to offer him immunity, and putting him en
the stand is an offer of immunity, tacitly, at leastes  £'
It nas been so recognized for years in these Courtss

THE COURT; I have no power either to 1n-truct

the District Attorney or defendant's counsel as to whom

they shall call as witnesses.
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MR. KINSLEY: Well, I ask your 39!1032%% :

the jury to mquit the defendant on the W '

got possession of it,.
THE COURT: Motion denieds ,
MR, KINSIFY: 1T take ezcgpttngéfgi; §ﬁ§
of this defendant here? s
THE COURT£ For what purpose do yyu:y$§h "
her? p o
MR, KINSLEY; Well, never mind. I thiﬂk §ﬁdﬁ,
is the case for the Aefenuo, ‘may it pl.l@a ﬁﬁ# .

Ceurte

THE DEFENSE RESTS. A

TESTIMONY CILOSED.

Mr. Kinsley sums up the case for the defense.

The Court admonished the jury in accordance with
Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedurs.
Adjourned to Friday, February 17, 1905, at

10:3 0 A, M,
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People.

THE COURT charged the jury, who retu

finding the defendant gullty.



	1601
	1602
	1603
	1604
	1605
	1606
	1607
	1608
	1609
	1610
	1611
	1612
	1613
	1614
	1615
	1616
	1617
	1618
	1619
	1620
	1621
	1622
	1623
	1624
	1625
	1626
	1627
	1628
	1629
	1630
	1631
	1632
	1633
	1634
	1635
	1636
	1637
	1638
	1639
	1640
	1641
	1642
	1643
	1644
	1645
	1646
	1647
	1648
	1649
	1650
	1651
	1652
	1653
	1654
	1655
	1656
	1657
	1658
	1659
	1660
	1661
	1662
	1663
	1664
	1665
	1666
	1667
	1668
	1669
	1670
	1671

